
City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

AGENDA

 
Monday, November 18, 2013

1:30 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

This meeting is open to the public and all representations to Council form part of the
public record.  A live audio feed is being broadcast and recorded by CastaNet and a
delayed broadcast is shown on Shaw Cable.

2. Confirmation of Minutes 3 - 12

Regular PM Meeting - November 4, 2013

3. Development Application Reports & Related Bylaws

3.1 Rezoning Application No. Z13-0020 - 3131 Lakeshore Road, Trustees of the
Congregation of St. Paul’s United Church

13 - 41

To rezone the subject property to C4 – Urban Centre Commercial to permit a
mixed use development and a new mixed use ‘arts and worship centre’.

3.1.1 Bylaw No. 10895 (Z13-0020) - 3131 Lakeshore Road, Trustees of the
Congregation of St. Paul's United Church

42 - 42

To give Bylaw No. 10895 first reading.

3.2 Text Amendment Application No. TA13-0008 - Addition of Thift Stores as
Primary Use in I4, C4, C7 and C10 Zones

43 - 45

To add ‘Thrift Stores’ as a permitted “Principal Use” within the I4-Central
Industrial Zone, C4-Urban Centre Commercial Zone, C7-Central Business
Commercial Zone and the C10-Service Commercial Zone.

3.2.1 Bylaw No. 10896 (TA13-0008) - Thrift Store Text Amendments to City
of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000

46 - 46

To give Bylaw No. 10896 first reading.

1



3.3 Agricultural Land Reserve Appeal Application No. A13-0011 - 3053-3057
Dunster Road, Friedelgunde (Gunde) Volk, Kenneth Volk & Edeltraut
Hattenbach

47 - 58

The applicant is requesting permission from the Agricultural Land Commission
(ALC) for a “Subdivision of Agricultural Land Reserve” under Section 21(2) of
the Agricultural Land Commission Act. The subdivision is more specifically a
“Homesite Severance” request as per ALC Policy #11 – Homesite Severance on
ALR Lands.

3.4 Rezoning Application No. Z11-0082, Extension Request - 4165 Wallace Road,
Bernard & Christine Ross

59 - 61

To extend the date for adoption of Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10755 from
October 2, 2013 to October 2, 2014.  To consider a final extension to facilitate
the rezoning of the subject property fromthe A1 - Agriculture 1 zone to the
A1c - Agriculture 1 with Carriage House zone in order to allow the applicant
time needed to prepare to legalize an existing suite within an accessory
building.  The applicant is requesting additional time to deal with registration
of a restrictive covenant on title to control use of the mobile home on site.

4. Mayor and Councillor Items

5. Termination

2



 1 

 

 
 

City of Kelowna 

Regular Council Meeting 

Minutes 
 
 
Date: 
Location: 

Monday, November 4, 2013 
Council Chamber 
City Hall, 1435 Water Street 

 
Council Members 
Present: 

Mayor Walter Gray and Councillors Colin Basran*; Andre Blanleil*, 
Maxine DeHart, Gail Given, Robert Hobson, Luke Stack and Gerry 
Zimmermann 

 
Council Members 
Absent: 

Councillor Mohini Singh 

  
Staff Present: City Manager, Ron Mattiussi; Deputy City Clerk, Karen Needham; 

Divisional Director, Corporate & Protective Services, Rob Mayne*; 
Manager, Urban Planning, Ryan Smith*; Director, Subdivision, 
Agriculture & Environment Services, Shelley Gambacort*; 
Manager, Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services, Todd 
Cashin*; Manager, Long Range Planning, Gary Stephen*; Planner 
Specialist, Graham March*; Parking Operations Coordinator, Dave 
Duncan*; Manager, Public Works, Darryl Astofooroff*; Traffic 
Technician, Laurens Campbell*; Director, Development Services, 
Mo Bayat*; Fire Chief, Jeff Carlisle*; Manager, Parks Services, Ian 
Wilson*; Urban Forest Health Technician, Andrew Hunsberger*; 
Manager, Property Management, Ron Forbes*; and Council 
Recording Secretary, Sandi Horning 

 
(* denotes partial attendance) 
 
 
1. Call to Order 
 
Mayor Gray called the meeting to order at 1:37 p.m. 
 
Mayor Gray advised that the meeting is open to the public and all representations to Council 
form part of the public record.  A live audio feed is being broadcast and recorded by CastaNet 
and a delayed broadcast is shown on Shaw Cable. 
  

3



 2 

 

 
2. Confirmation of Minutes 
 
Moved By  Councillor Zimmermann/Seconded By  Councillor Given 
 

R694/13/11/04  THAT the Minutes of the Regular PM Meetings of October 21, 2013 and 
October 28, 2013, and the Chauffeur's Permit Appeal Hearing of October 22, 2013 be 
confirmed as circulated. 

 
Carried 

 
3. Development Application Reports & Related Bylaws 
 

3.1. Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment Application No. OCP13-0012 and 
Rezoning Application No. Z13-0019 - 2049 Byrns Road, Margarita Littley 

 
Staff: 
- Displayed a PowerPoint Presentation and summarized the application before Council. 
 
Councillor Blanleil joined the meeting at 1:40 p.m. 
 
Staff: 
- Responded to questions from Council. 
- Clarified what staff is proposing with the 'alternate' recommendation in the Report to 

Council. 
- Expressed a concern with the public consultation process proposed by the Applicant. 
 
Mayor Gray invited the Applicant, or Applicant's Representative, to come forward. 
 
Tony Lockhurst, Applicant's Representative: 
- Thanked staff for their work on the file. 
- Advised that the recommendation proposed by staff does not meet the family’s 

requirements at this time.  He wants to provide affordable housing for the family as well 
as financial support. 

- Advised that the suite has been updated and is very nice. 
- Expressed a concern with the recommendation to decommission the suite as he believes 

that the suite provides needed affordable housing. 
- Responded to questions from Council. 
- Believes that the suite is legally, non-conforming based on the regulations in place at the 

time of the purchase of the property. 
- Advised that currently his son occupies the suite downstairs and the objective is to move 

him into one of the new duplexes. 
- Believes that the duplex and carriage house meets the BC Building Code. 
- Confirmed that a family member would be residing in the lower portion of the duplex and 

that he will not necessarily rent the suite to a non-family member. 
- The whole reason for the application is to keep the family together and to provide 

affordable housing for his family members. 
 
Staff: 
- It is staff's understanding that the Building Permit for the carriage house was issued prior 

to 1973. 
- There are a number of Affidavits from neighbours confirming that the carriage house was 

constructed and occupied in 1972. 
- The units in the front are legal, non-conforming; however, the unit in the back has never 

been legalized.  The Building Permit in 1972 was issued for a garage. 
- Clarified that anything that is non-conforming must be brought into conformity with 

current regulations and that is why this application is before Council. 
 

4



 3 

 

Margarita Littley, Applicant: 
- Advised that she purchased the property because of the suites so that she could keep her 

family together and provide affordable housing for her children. 
- Didn't think that the proposal would cause such a big deal until she made application to 

the City. 
 
Deputy City Clerk: 
- Provided clarification on procedure with respect to the alternate recommendation and 

responded to questions from Council. 
 
Moved By  Councillor Stack/Seconded By  Councillor Hobson 
 

R695/13/11/04  THAT Council defers consideration of Official Community Plan Bylaw 
Amendment Application No. OCP13-0012 and Rezoning Application No. Z13-0019 for 
the property located at 2049 Byrns Road; 
 
AND THAT Council directs staff to work with the Applicant on an alternate proposal 
and report back to Council. 
 

Carried 
 

3.2. Agricultural Land Reserve Appeal Application No. A13-0007 - 700 Hwy 33 E, 
Hillcrest Farm Market Inc./Chanchal Bal 

 
Councillor Basran declared a conflict of interest as the Applicant is a direct relative and left 
the meeting at 2:13 p.m. 
 
Staff: 
- Displayed a PowerPoint Presentation and summarized the application before Council. 
- Provided an overview of the history of the property. 
- Advised that the café has been in operation since 2012 without a Business Licence. 
 
Mayor Gray invited the Applicant, or Applicant's Representative, to come forward. 
 
Chancel Bal, Applicant: 
- His family has been farming the subject property since the early 1940's.  For years the 

property sat idle until his branch of the family purchased the property and decided to 
farm it. 

- Believes that the farm and café should be considered an 'agri-tourism' operation. 
- Advised that some of the facts stated in the Report to Council are incorrect. 
- Advised that he applied for a Building Permit in early Spring of 2010 and that it took City 

staff approximately 7-8 months to approve the project.  He was issued a Building Permit 
in November of 2010. 

- Stated that it is incorrect that he constructed the building contrary to the Building Permit 
that was issued. The commercial kitchen was constructed in a way that was approved by 
City Building Inspectors. 

- Displayed a drawing of the café that was submitted to City staff. 
- Thought he was developing the site in accordance with the City's and Agricultural Land 

Commission’s regulations. 
- Expressed a concern that the City and Agricultural Land Commission's regulations are not 

clearly defined. 
- Stated that he grows 98% of the goods that are sold at the Farmer's Market on the site. 
- Believes that he is preserving land just like wineries and cideries and therefore he should 

be allowed the same type of operation on farm land that is currently being allowed on 
winery and cidery sites. 

- Believes that he is preserving agriculture. 
- Responded to questions from Council. 

5



 4 

 

- Believes that he followed all of the City and Agricultural Land Commission's rules that 
were in place, but that there was a misunderstanding as to 'interpretation' of those rules. 

- Advised that his contractor lead him to believe that a sign permit was not required as the 
site is on agricultural lands. 

- Noted that the City's Agricultural Advisory Committee supported the application. 
 
Staff: 
- Responded to questions from Council. 
- Clarified the City's records with respect to the Building Permit that was originally applied 

for. 
- Displayed a copy of the original Building Permit that was issued. 
- Provided clarification regarding the original Building Permit that was applied for.  Once 

the Building Permit was submitted and staff understood that a commercial kitchen was 
proposed, staff worked with the Applicant to ensure that commercial kitchen was 
constructed to code. 

- In 2010, when the original Building Permit was issued, there was no discussion of a 
potential café being considered for the site. 

 
City Manager: 
- Provided comment regarding the next steps in the process. 
 
Moved By  Councillor Zimmermann/Seconded By  Councillor Blanleil 
 

THAT Agricultural Land Reserve Appeal Application No. A13-0007 for Lot A, Section 24, 
Township 26 Osoyoos Division Yale District Plan EPP7145, located at 700 Highway 33 E, 
Kelowna, B.C. for a non-farm use of agricultural land in the Agricultural Land Reserve, 
pursuant to Section 20(3) of the Agricultural Land Commission Act, be supported by 
Municipal Council; 
 
AND THAT the Municipal Council directs staff to forward the subject application to the 
Agricultural Land Commission for consideration. 

 
Amendment Moved By  Councillor Hobson/Seconded By  Councillor Stack 
 

R696/13/11/04  THAT Council’s support for Agricultural Land Reserve Appeal 
Application No. A13-0007 be subject to compliance with all City of Kelowna Bylaws, 
including applying for any necessary variances to City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000. 

 
Carried 

 
The original motion, as amended, was then voted on as follows: 
 
Moved By  Councillor Zimmermann/Seconded By  Councillor Blanleil 
 

R697/13/11/04  THAT Agricultural Land Reserve Appeal Application No. A13-0007 for 
Lot A, Section 24, Township 26 Osoyoos Division Yale District Plan EPP7145, located at 
700 Highway 33 E, Kelowna, B.C. for a non-farm use of agricultural land in the 
Agricultural Land Reserve, pursuant to Section 20(3) of the Agricultural Land 
Commission Act, be supported by Municipal Council subject to compliance with all City 
of Kelowna Bylaws, including applying for any necessary variances to City of Kelowna 
Zoning Bylaw No. 8000; 
 
AND THAT the Municipal Council directs staff to forward the subject application to the 
Agricultural Land Commission for consideration. 

 
Carried 

Councillors Given and Stack – Opposed. 

6



 5 

 

 
3.3. Rezoning Application No. Z13-0033 - 868 Liban Ct, Laryn & Judith Penner 
 

Councillor Basran rejoined the meeting at 3:27 p.m. 
 
Staff: 
- Displayed a PowerPoint Presentation and summarized the application before Council. 
 
Moved By  Councillor Stack/Seconded By  Councillor Basran 
 

R698/13/11/04  THAT Rezoning Application No. Z13-0033 to amend the City of 
Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by changing the zoning classification of Lot 4, Section 
29, Township 26, Osoyoos Division Yale District, Plan 25918, located on 868 Liban 
Court, Kelowna, BC from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU1c– Large Lot 
Housing with Carriage House  zone be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further 
consideration; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered 
subsequent to the requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being 
completed to their satisfaction. 

 
Carried 

 
3.3.1. Bylaw No. 10894 (Z13-0033) - 868 Liban Court, Laryn & Judith 

Penner 
 

Moved By  Councillor DeHart/Seconded By  Councillor Zimmermann 
 

R699/13/11/04  THAT Bylaw No. 10894 be read a first time. 
 

Carried 
 

 
3.4. Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment Application No. OCP13-0015, 

Proposed Housekeeping Amendments (BL10887) 
 

Staff: 
- Summarized the housekeeping amendments. 
- Displayed maps indicating the proposed Official Community Plan Land Use Amendments. 
- Provided an overview of the public consultation process followed by staff in addition to 

the Public Hearing. 
 

Moved By  Councillor Zimmermann/Seconded By  Councillor Basran 
 

R700/13/11/04  THAT OCP Bylaw Text Amendment No. OCP13-0015 to amend Kelowna 
2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 as outlined in the Report of the 
Planner Specialist dated November 4, 2013 be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT Council considers the public process outlined in the Report of the Planner 
Specialist dated November 4, 2013 to be appropriate consultation for the purpose of 
Section 879 of the Local Government Act; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT OCP Bylaw Text Amendment No. OCP13-0015 be forwarded to a 
Public Hearing for further consideration; 

 
Carried 

7



 6 

 

 
3.4.1. Bylaw No. 10887 - OCP13-0015 Housekeeping Amendments 
 

Moved By  Councillor Stack/Seconded By  Councillor Given 
 

R701/13/11/04  THAT Bylaw No. 10887 be read a first time; 
 
AND THAT the Bylaw has been considered in conjunction with the City's Financial Plan 
and Waste Management Plan. 

 
Carried 

 
3.5. Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment Application No. OCP13-0016, 

Proposed Miscellaneous Amendments (BL10888) 
 

Staff: 
- Summarized the miscellaneous amendments being proposed. 
 
Moved By  Councillor Hobson/Seconded By  Councillor Given 
 

R702/13/11/04  THAT OCP Bylaw Text Amendment No. OCP13-0016 to amend Kelowna 
2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 as outlined in the Report of the 
Planner Specialist dated November 4, 2013 be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT Council considers the public process outlined in the Report of the Planner 
Specialist dated November 4, 2013 to be appropriate consultation for the purpose of 
Section 879 of the Local Government Act; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT OCP Bylaw Text Amendment No. OCP13-0016 be forwarded to a 
Public Hearing for further consideration; 

 
Carried 

 
 

3.5.1. Bylaw No. 10888 - OCP13-0016 Miscellaneous Amendments 
 

Moved By  Councillor Hobson/Seconded By  Councillor Basran 
 

R703/13/11/04  THAT Bylaw No. 10888 be read a first time; 
 
AND THAT the Bylaw has been considered in conjunction with the City's Financial Plan 
and Waste Management Plan. 

 
Carried 

 
4. Non-Development Reports & Related Bylaws 
 

4.1. Free Downtown Parking 
 

Moved By  Councillor Hobson/Seconded By  Councillor Blanleil 
 

R704/13/11/04  THAT Council receives for information, the report from the Director 
of Real Estate dated October 21, 2013, with respect to Free Downtown Parking on 
Saturdays in December; 
 
AND THAT Council approves free on-street parking in the Downtown area on the 
following Saturdays in 2013: 

 

8



 7 

 

December 7, 
December 14, 
December 21, and 
December 28. 

 
Carried 

 
4.2. Rio Drive 
 

Staff: 
- Provided an overview of the proposed temporary speed bumps and responded to questions 

from Council. 
- The permanent road will be constructed in 2014. 
 
City Manager: 
- Will have staff report back to Council with respect to the transportation network planning 

for the Wilden development area. 
 
Moved By  Councillor Hobson/Seconded By  Councillor Stack 
 

R705/13/11/04  THAT Council receives, for information, the report from the Public 
Works Manager dated November 4, 2013 with respect to Rio Drive; 
 
AND THAT Council directs staff to install two (2) temporary speed humps on Rio Drive 
as outlined in the Report of the Public Works Manager dated November 4, 2013. 
 

Carried 
 

4.3. RCMP 2013 2014 Priorities - General 
 

Divisional Director, Corporate & Protective Services: 
- Advised that this is a housekeeping item and provided an overview of the 2013/2014 

priorities. 
- Responded to questions from Council. 
 
Moved By  Councillor Given/Seconded By  Councillor Stack 
 

R706/13/11/04  THAT Council receives, for information, the Report from the 
Divisional Director, Corporate & Protective Services dated October 30, 2013 regarding 
the 2013/2014 RCMP Priorities; 
 
AND THAT the priorities set for 2013/2014 collectively be Organized Crime, Police and 
Community Relations, Road Safety and Family Violence; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT Council directs staff to continue to include Council, City Staff and 
key stakeholders in discussions regarding the setting of future policing priorities. 

 
Carried 

 
4.4. Balcony Sprinklers 
 

Staff: 
- Summarized the legislative options and staff's course of action for improving the fire 

protection requirements of the BC Building Code for balconies in new construction. 
- Responded to questions from Council. 
  

9



 8 

 

 
Moved By  Councillor Hobson/Seconded By  Councillor Zimmermann 
 

R707/13/11/04  THAT Council receives, for information, the Report from Development 
Services Director dated November 04, 2013, with respect to the condominium fires and 
balcony sprinklers update for new constructions. 

 
Carried 

 
4.5. Fire Prevention for Multi-Residential Structure Balconies 
 

Fire Chief: 
- Provided an overview of the Fire Department's analysis and recommended approach to 

reduce the occurrences of balcony fires in multi-residential structures. 
- Responded to questions from Council. 
- Will follow up with insurance companies in order to determine whether or not insurance 

premiums increase if strata complexes and condominiums allow barbeques and smoking on 
balconies. 

 
Moved By  Councillor Given/Seconded By  Councillor Basran 
 

R708/13/11/04  THAT Council receives, for information, the Report from the Fire 
Chief dated November 4, 2013 with respect to the Kelowna Fire Department's (KFD) 
approach to reducing multi-family residential building balcony fires on existing 
structures; 
 
AND THAT Council directs the Kelowna Fire Department to expand the public 
education focus to include workshops for strata managers, strata councils and building 
owners with an emphasis on balcony fire safety. 

 
Carried 

 
4.6. Wildfire Fuel Mitigation Program 
 

Staff: 
- Displayed a PowerPoint Presentation. 
 
Moved By  Councillor Blanleil/Seconded By  Councillor Hobson 
 

R709/13/11/04  THAT Council receives, for information, the Report of the Urban 
Forest Health Technician dated November 4, 2013 regarding the status of the Wildfire 
Fuel Mitigation Program. 

 
Carried 

 
4.7. Rutland Skate Shop Lease 
 

Staff: 
- Provided an overview of the Lease. 
 
Moved By  Councillor Basran/Seconded By  Councillor DeHart 
 

R710/13/11/04  THAT Council approves the City entering into a two (2) year Lease 
Agreement, with Ms. Una Mak, for the Rutland Arena Skate Shop, with three (3) 
further one (1) year renewals, in the form attached to the report of the Manager, 
Property Management, dated October 30, 2013; 

  

10



 9 

 

 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the Lease document. 

 
Carried 

 
4.8. Stuart Park Skating Rink Contract  
 

Staff: 
- Provided an overview of License of Occupation. 
 
Moved By  Councillor Blanleil/Seconded By  Councillor Stack 
 

R711/13/11/04  THAT Council approves the City entering into a one (1) year License 
of Occupation, with Bladez Skate Shop and Mr. Kevin Laflamme, for the Stuart Park Ice 
Rink, with four (4) further one (1) year renewals, in the form attached to the Report 
of the Manager, Property Management, dated October 30, 2013; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the License of 
Occupation. 

 
Carried 

 
4.9. Regional District of Central Okanagan, Community Police Office 
 

Staff: 
- Provided an overview of the Lease Agreement with the Regional District of Central 

Okanagan. 
- Noted that the subject property would not comply with the RU1 zoning and therefore 

advised that the recommendation in the staff report should reflect that the property 
should be rezoned from the P1 - Major Institutional zone to the RU2 - Medium Lot Housing 
zone. 

 
Deputy City Clerk: 
- Clarified the amendment to the staff’s recommendation. 
 
Moved By  Councillor Hobson/Seconded By  Councillor Zimmermann 
 

R712/13/11/04  THAT Council approves the City entering into a five (5) year Lease 
Agreement, with the Regional District of the Central Okanagan with the option to 
renew for an additional five (5) year term, in the form attached to the Report of the 
Manager, Property Management, dated October 30, 2013; 
 
AND THAT the 2013 Financial Plan be amended for the monthly lease cost and 
estimated $81,000 of improvements with funding from existing RCMP contract budget, 
and that the on-going lease requirements be included in the 2014 Provisional Budget; 
 
AND THAT Council reaffirms the future use of a portion of 4065 Lakeshore Road as 
parkland as designated in the Official Community Plan for the extension of Belmont 
Park; 
 
AND THAT Council directs staff to demolish the current building using funds from the 
Land Sales Reserve; 
 
AND THAT Council directs staff to bring forward the necessary subdivision and rezoning 
applications in order to subdivide the remainder portion of 4065 Lakeshore Road and 
to rezone that portion of 4065 Lakeshore Road from the P1 – Major Institutional zone 
to the RU2 – Medium Lot Housing zone; 
 

11



 10 

 

AND THAT Council directs staff to dispose of the subdivided and rezoned parcel at a 
price of no less than market value as determined by the Manager, Real Estate Services 
with the proceeds being used to replenish the Land Sales Reserve for demolition costs 
and any remainder to the Water Utility; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute all documents 
to complete the transactions. 

 
Carried 

 
5. Mayor and Councillor Items 
 
Councillor Stack: 
- Commented on the Drive for Life Challenge and noted that Kelowna beat Prince George. 
 
Councillor Zimmermann: 
- Commented on his attendance at the Rutland Parks Society's Annual General Meeting on 

October 30, 2013.  Advised that a new executive was elected for the Society, that 
includes Todd Sanderson as President and Al Horning as Vice-President. 

 
Councillor DeHart: 
- Commented on her attendance at the local Ringette Tournament last week and noted that 

‘Team DeHart’ beat ‘Team Letnick’. 
 
Councillor Basran: 
- Commented on the Rutland Parks Society’s Annual General Meeting and the election of a 

new executive. 
 
Mayor Gray: 
- Commented on his recent trip to Kasugai, Japan. 
- Displayed a photo of a fire caldron from Scottsdale, Arizona and suggested that something 

similar be considered near the Stuart Park Skating Rink. 
 

6. Termination 
 
This meeting was declared terminated at 4:58 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
____________________________________  _____________________________________ 
Mayor                Deputy City Clerk 
 
/slh 
 

12



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: November 18th, 2013 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (AW) 

Application: Z13-0020 Owner: 
Trustees of the Congregation 
of St. Paul’s United Church  

Address: 3131 Lakeshore Road Applicant: Meiklejohn Architects 

Subject: 2013-11-18 Report Z13-0020 3131 Lakeshore Road  

Existing OCP Designation: Mixed Use (Residential / Commercial) 

Existing Zone: P2 – Educational & Minor Institutional 

Proposed Zone: C4 – Urban Centre Commercial 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z13-0020 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by changing the zoning classification of Lot 1, D.L. 14 & 135, ODYD, Plan 34984 Except 
Plans 35454 and KAP67299, located at 3131 Lakeshore Road from P2 – Educational & Minor 
Institutional to C4 – Urban Centre Commercial be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further 
consideration; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction with 
Council's consideration of a Development Permit on the subject properties; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being completed to their satisfaction; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to 
the submission of a plan of subdivision to subdivide the property. 
 

 2.0 Purpose  
 
To rezone the subject property to C4 – Urban Centre Commercial to permit a mixed use 
development and a new mixed use ‘arts and worship centre’. 

13



Z13-0020 – Page 2 

 
 

3.0 Land Use Management  

The subject properties are located in the heart of the South Pandosy Urban Centre. The proposal 
represents a unique opportunity to maintain and enhance the religious and arts assembly within 
the Urban Centre while introducing a mixed use project.  Redeveloping the subject property will 
achieve various objectives within the 2030 OCP.  
 
OCP Future Land Use Designation 
The existing Mixed Use (Residential / Commercial) designation is intended to provide a mix of 
uses to support the principles of live, work, play for this urban centre. The proposed 
development offers a very interesting mix of retail, office, residential and religious assembly uses 
which will create a true mixed use project. Taking these details into consideration and 
recognizing the mix of uses and objectives that must be achieved within the South Pandosy Urban 
Centre, this project would be a welcomed addition to the area.  
 
Site Context  
This large impermeable commercial block of properties bordered by Lakeshore, KLO, Richter and 
Lanfranco has always presented a challenge for the redevelopment of this portion of the South 
Pandosy Town Centre as a vibrant pedestrian oriented node. This project will help to create 
connections and draw pedestrians into the middle of this commercial block in what is presently 
an auto oriented mall. By introducing additional densities and uses into this large block will help 
to further the focus to more infill development opportunities, similar to the new KPMG building 
fronting Richter Street. Proximity to the main commercial core of the urban centre also lends 
itself to a strong argument of ensuring ‘complete communities’ with residential and religious 
assembly uses that would attract a broader demographic to the area. 
 
Site Planning 
The applicant will be applying a similar level of streetscaping that can be found within the 
commercial core of the South Pandosy Urban Centre which will help to improve pedestrian 
mobility in the area. The project has a strong street edge condition along Lakeshore Road that 
helps to animate the streetscape while de-emphasizing the parking to be sited at the rear of the 
project. Along KLO Road site access will be cleaned up and consolidated with the westerly 
property, this will reduce the number of access points along this busy section of road from three 
to two. 
 
In summary, Staff are supportive of the proposed development. It will help to introduce more 
retail, office and residential uses within this important town centre location. The building and 
site design are appropriate forms of development that will help to animate and draw people to 
the South Pandosy Urban Centre. The applicant has provided renderings of what can be provided 
on site but it is expected that some of the details will change as the concept is refined, these 
will be settled when the Development Permit is forwarded at a later date should council support 
the proposed rezoning application. The applicant held a Public Information meeting on June 11th, 
2013 which satisfied Council Policy #367 with regards to public consultation and notification. 
 
 
4.0  Proposal 

4.1     Project Description 

The project features two different forms organized into one comprehensively planned 
development. It is anticipated that the project will be modified prior to final adoption but 

14



Z13-0020 – Page 3 

 
 

overall mix of uses and general format of the project will remain unchanged. The mixed use 
building fronting Lakeshore Road provides a strong street edge with an active retail frontage, this 
retail frontage also runs the northern length of the building. This feature will help draw people 
from Lakeshore Road. The 1st storey will accommodate the underbuilding parking which is 
wrapped with CRU’s to animate the frontage, the 2nd storey is comprised of office space while 
the 3rd and 4th storeys will accommodate residential units of varying sizes. The Arts & Worship 
centre is located at the rear of the property which will also help draw people onsite. The modern 
building features a large stage with various other amenities for art studios and flex space. 
Parking for this component will be at grade and occupy the entire northern portion of the 
property up to KLO road, Staff will be working with the applicant to help enhance the aesthetics 
of the surface parking lot.       

The project compares to Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA C4 ZONE REQUIREMENTS C4 PROPOSAL 

Development Regulations 
Floor Area Ratio 1.3 1.3 

Height 15.0m / 4 Storeys 15.0m / 4 Storeys 

Front Yard 0.0m 0.0m 

Side Yard (south) 0.0m 4.4m 

Side Yard (north) 0.0m 15.0m 

Rear Yard 0.0m 0.0m 

Site Cov. - Buildings 
Buildings, driveways & 

Parking 

75% 
N/A 

51% 
N/A 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking 

Requirements 
72 Stalls 72 Stalls 

Bicycle Parking 
Class I: 11 stalls 

Class II: 6 stalls 
Class I: 22 stalls 

Class II: 6 stalls 
Loading stalls 1 stall 1 stall 

 

 

4.2   Site Context 

The subject property is located within the heart of the South Pandosy Urban Centre where the 
existing St. Paul’s church is located.    

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North C4 – Urban Centre Commercial Commercial 

East C4 – Urban Centre Commercial Commercial 

South C4 – Urban Centre Commercial Commercial 
West C4 – Urban Centre Commercial Commercial 

 

 

 

15



Z13-0020 – Page 4 

 
 

Subject Property Map: 

 

5.0 Current Development Policies - Kelowna Official Community Plan 2030 (OCP)  

5.1 Development Process (Chapter 5) - Considerations in Reviewing Development Applications 
 

Ensure appropriate and context sensitive built form (Objective 5.5) 
 
Building Height (Policy .1). Locate taller buildings in the geographic centre of Urban 
Centres and generally decrease height moving away from the centre, to a maximum of 4 
storey’s at the periphery of the Urban Centres, where adjoining land is designated for 
single/two unit housing. 
 
South Pandosy: Generally 4 storey’s. Six storey’s within C4 or C9 zoned areas. Potential 
for 8 storey’s where an architecturally distinct and significant buildings is placed at a 
corner, gateway or view terminus location that is of significance to the community or 
where a building is of cultural significance to the community. 

 
Objective 5.8 Achieve high quality urban design. 

 
Streetscaping (Policy 2). Urban Centre roads should be considered as part of the public 
space and streetscaped with full amenities (i.e. sidewalks, trees and other planting, 
furniture, bike facilities, boulevards, etc.). 

16



Z13-0020 – Page 5 

 
 

 
Ensure opportunities are available for greater use of active transportation and transit 
to: improve community health; reduce greenhouse gas emissions; and increase 
resilience in the face of higher energy prices (Objective 5.10) 
 
Maximize Pedestrian / Cycling Connectivity. Require that pedestrian and cyclist 
movement and infrastructure be addressed in the review and approval of all City and 
private sector developments, including provision of sidewalks and trails and recognition of 
frequently used connections and informal pedestrian routes.  
Transit Infrastructure. Require that transit service needs to be integrated into 
community designs and development proposals to optimize access to transit service and 
incorporate essential infrastructure on transit routes identified. 
 
Objective 5.20 Achieve high quality urban design and appropriate land uses. 
 
South Pandosy Urban Design (Policy 2). Ensure that the urban design for South Pandosy 
clearly differentiates this commercial district from others in the City and interior of BC. 
To this end, redevelopment should: 
 

 encourage the development of landmark buildings at key intersections within the 
precinct and at the terminus of significant sight lines. Landmark buildings should be 
distinguished from other buildings through the conscientious use of siting, common 
entrances, additional storey’s, articulation of the footprint or roof-line, decorative 
structures, colour and other means appropriate to the setting and desired effect. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Demolition permits are required for any existing building(s). 

 Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permit(s) for new construction 

 These buildings are required to be of non-combustible construction. Any proposed 
deviance from this requirement of BCBC 12 requires an approved alternate solution 
report approved prior to the release of the Development Permit.  

 A minimum Geodetic Elevation of 343.66 meters is required for all habitable spaces  

 A Geotechnical report is required to address the sub soil conditions and potential 
impact on neighbouring properties. A Geotechnical pier review may be required at 
time of building permit application. 

 A Structural pier review may be required at time of building permit application. 

 A Building Code analysis is required for the structure at time of building permit 
applications, but the following items may affect the form and character of the 
building(s): 

 The British Columbia Building Code (BCBC) will define this development as two 
separate buildings, so if firewalls or equivalents are to be utilized, a complete 
building code analysis would be required to be reviewed prior to complete comments 
being provided for the spatial separation between the two buildings. 

 Main floor man doors in building B appear to open over property line. 

 The exits from the second floor appear to not appear to meet minimum code 
requirements (number of exits, travel distance etc). The third and fourth floors 
appear to have a dead end corridor. 

17



Z13-0020 – Page 6 

 
 

 Door swing and travel distances to be addressed at time of building permit application  

 Guards are required for patio areas & all decks. The drawings provided don’t clearly 
identify these requirements, but will be reviewed at time of building permit 
application. 

 A fire resistance rating is required for garbage enclosure room(s). The drawings 
submitted for building permit are to clearly identify how this rating will be achieved 
and where these area(s) are located. 

 Access to any mechanical rooms at roof level are required or access to the roofs are 
required 

 Size and location of all signage to be clearly defined as part of the development 
permit.  

 How does the parking on the east side (existing mall) work from an access agreement 
allowance? 

 Awnings over city property require an indemnification agreement(s). 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See Attached. 

6.3 Fire Department 

Fire department access, fire flows, and hydrants as per the BC Building Code and City of 
Kelowna Subdivision Bylaw #7900. The Subdivision Bylaw #7900 requires a minimum of 
150ltr/sec fire flows. The access road is to be a minimum of 6M in width with no parking 
signs provided along the roadway. Additional comments will be required at the building 
permit application. 

6.4 Fortis BC - Gas 

FortisBC gas division has reviewed the above mentioned referral and has no concerns 

6.5 Fortis BC – Electric 

No comment provided. 

6.6 Infrastructure Planning  

The sketches submitted with this rezoning application show approximately 40 trees, 
however the site plan does not seem to provide any room for planting beds, therefore it is 
requested that the applicant provide a planting plan to explain the location of the 
proposed landscaping. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date Application Received: April 26th, 2013  
Applicant Hosted Public Open House:  June 11th, 2013 
Transportation Impact Assessment Complete: October 10th, 2013 

 
 
 
 

18



Z13-0020 – Page 7 

 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Alec Warrender, Land Use Planner  
 

Reviewed by:   Ryan Smith, Manager, Urban Land Use 
 

Approved Inclusion:  D. Gilchrist, Community Planning & Real Estate Divisional Director 

 

Attachments: 

Subject Property Map 
Sit Plan  
Conceptual Renderings 
Development Engineering Requirements 
Applicant’s Letter of Rationale 
Open House Summary 

 

19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



Report to Council 
 

Date: 

 
November 12, 2013 
 

Rim No. 
 

1250-04 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 

Subject: 
 

Addition of Thrift Stores as Primary Use in I4, C4, C7 and C10 Zones 

 

Recommendation: 

THAT Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment No. TA13-0008 to amend City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw 
No. 8000 by amending the I4 Central Industrial Zone, C4-Urban Centre Commercial Zone, C7-
Central Business Commercial Zone and C10 Service Commercial Zone, as outlined in “Schedule 
A” of the Report of the Urban Planning Department dated November 12, 2013, be considered 
by Council; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Text Amendment bylaw be forwarded to Public Hearing for further 
consideration. 
 
Purpose: 

To add ‘Thrift Stores’ as a permitted “Principal Use” within the I4-Central Industrial Zone, 
C4-Urban Centre Commercial Zone, C7-Central Business Commercial Zone and the C10-Service 
Commercial Zone.   
 
Background: 

In October of 2013, staff received an inquiry from a thrift store looking to relocate to a 
location in the north end (with an I4-Central Industrial Zone) from a property located on 
Lawrence Avenue (with a C7-Central Business Commercial zone). After some research, staff 
discovered that while the land Use of ‘Thrift Store’ exists in the City’s Zoning Bylaw No.8000, 
it does not appear as a permitted use in any zones where such a use would commonly be 
located. As such, staff is proposing to add the land use of ‘Thrift Store’ to several zones 
where such uses currently are or could practically be located. The following table lists the 
zones and number of Thrift Stores with business licenses which are currently located in those 
zones: 

Zone Number of Thrift Stores with Business License 

C4 – Urban Centre Commercial 3 

C7 – Central Business Commercial 3 

C10 – Service Commercial 1 

I4 – Central Industrial 1 

43



Existing Policy: 

Official Community Plan (OCP) 
 
Objective 10.1 Promote social well-being and quality of life by providing facilities and 
services for all community members. 
 

Policy .1 Distribution of Community Resources. Appropriately distribute and locate 
community resources (such as libraries, parks, meeting places, community policing, 
recreation services etc.) so that all neighbourhoods have convenient access. 

 
 
Internal Circulation: 

 

Policy and Planning: Policy and Planning has no concerns with the proposed 
amendments. 

  

 RCMP: The RCMP did not respond to the circulation request. 

 

Considerations not applicable to this report: 

Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 

 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
     

R. Smith, Urban Planning Manager 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 

Approved for Inclusion  Doug Gilchrist, Acting General Manager,  
     Community Sustainability 
 
Attachments: 

Schedule “A” - Summary of Proposed Text Amendments 
 

44



1 Updated: 14/11/2013 

 

SCHEDULE ‘A’ Thrift Store Text Amendments 
TA13-0008 

Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 

No. Section Existing Text Proposed Text 

1 15.1.2 Principal Uses n/a Add: (p) Thrift Stores 
2 14.4.2 Principal Uses n/a Add: (pp) Thrift Stores 
3 14.7.2 Principal Uses n/a Add: (ss) Thrift Stores 
4 14.10.2 Principal Uses n/a Add: (pp) Thrift Stores 

 

45



46



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: November 18, 2013 

RIM No. 1210-21 

To: City Manager 

From: Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services (TC) 

Application: A13-0011 Owner: 

Friedelgunde (Gunde) Volk 

Kenneth Volk 

Edeltraut Hattenbach 

Address: 3053-3057 Dunster Road Applicant: 

Friedelgunde (Gunde) Volk 

Kenneth Volk 

Edeltraut Hattenbach 

Subject: A13-0011 Council Report  

Existing OCP Designation: Resource Protection Area 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Agricultural Land Reserve appeal A13-0011 for Lot 11, Section 16, Township 26 Osoyoos 
Division Yale District, Plan 665, located at 3053 Dunster Road for a subdivision of agricultural 
land in the Agricultural Land Reserve, pursuant to Section 21(2) of the Agricultural Land 
Commission Act, be supported by Municipal Council; 
  
AND THAT Municipal Council forward the subject application to the Agricultural Land 
Commission.  

2.0 Purpose 

The applicant is requesting permission from the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) for a 
“Subdivision of Agricultural Land Reserve” under Section 21(2) of the Agricultural Land 
Commission Act.  The subdivision is more specifically a “Homesite Severance” request as per ALC 
Policy #11 – Homesite Severance on ALR Lands. 

3.0 Land Use Management 

The subject property was purchased by the current owners (Gunde and Kenneth) in 2006 from the 
owner’s (Gunde’s) mother (Edeltraut) with a “Life Estate” registered on the land allowing 
Edeltraut to remain on the land.  The applicants have provided documentation showing that the 
property was originally purchased by Gunde’s parents in 1970 prior to the establishment of the 
Land Commission and ALR. 

47



The proposed subdivision is somewhat uncertain given the change of ownership which typically 
would make the applicant ineligible for a homesite severance.  Interpreting the ALC Policy 
strictly may suggest that the applicants do not qualify.  However, the existence of a “Life Estate” 
for Edeltraut (i.e. Gunde’s mother) does further complicate things.   

In an effort to obtain greater certainty, City staff discussed the proposal with ALC staff upon 
submission.  ALC staff were also unable to confirm that the Homesite Severance Policy would in 
fact apply in this case.  The City’s review of this application is challenged by the uncertainty.  
However, ALC staff felt that the Commission is likely to give special consideration to this 
subdivision and may in fact review it as a Homesite Severance.  

While this is an important consideration given that homesite severance subdivisions in the ALR 
are the only subdivisions supported with any regularity, the applicants eligibility for a severance 
must be made by the Commission.   

ALC policies state that consideration of any homesite severance should be reviewed in the 
context of the overall agricultural integrity of the parcel, where the size and configuration will, 
in the Commission’s opinion, constitute a viable agricultural remainder. 

The proposal is for a 0.2 ha homesite which is consistent with a rural residential parcel.  While 
the parcel does not meet the 1.0 hectare minimum parcel size for properties serviced by a septic 
system, homesite severances are the only exception available to the City which is made in the 
interests of preserving agricultural land.   

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description/Proposal 

The applicant is requesting permission from the ALC for a “Subdivision of agricultural land 
reserve” under Section 21(2) of the ALC Act. The applicants are seeking a two lot subdivision. 

ALC Policy #11 – Homesite Severance on ALR Lands states that “a once only severance may be 
permitted where the applicant submits documentary evidence that he or she has continuously 
owned and occupied the property as his or her principal place of residence since 21 December 
1972”.  Based upon this policy, it is unclear if the applicants do in fact qualify for subdivision 
consideration as a homesite severance, or if this is simply a request for “Subdivision of 
Agricultural Land Reserve”. 

The current proposal is to subdivide a homesite located in the southwest corner of the property.  
The applicant is seeking a 0.2 ha (0.5 ac) subdivision from the existing 4.0 hectare (10 acre) 
parcel.  For reference purposes, a 0.2 ha (2,000 m2) parcel is under the Rural Residential 2 (RR2) 
zone subdivision requirements which require a minimum parcel size of 4000 m2, but easily meets 
the requirements of the RR3 zone which requires a 1,600 m2 parcel size1.  The proposal is for a 
more or less square parcel with dimensions of ~50 metres (165 feet) deep by ~40 metres (130 
feet) wide.   

The existing pole barn, including the one dwelling and associated structures, would stay with the 
remainder (farm) parcel with an area of 3.8 ha (9.5 ac) if the subdivision is permitted as 
proposed.  

4.2 Site Context 

The subject property is located on the south and east side of Dunster Road in the Southeast 
Kelowna Sector of the City. The subject property is in a rural/agricultural area, surrounded by 
agricultural land (ALR) on all sides. 

                                                
1 The minimum parcel size applies to properties connected to community sewer, while the minimum parcel size for those on septic is 
1.0 ha (10,000 m2). 

48



The property contains two distinct home sites in close proximity to Dunster Road, but located 
approximately 85 metres apart.  Each of the home sites is well defined and relatively well 
contained within a homeplate.  With no community sewer in this area, the dwellings are both 
served by private septic systems. 

4.2.1 Agricultural Capability/Soil Type(s) 

Based on Canada Land Inventory information (see attached Maps), the subject property is thought 
to be comprised of two soil types including Rutland (R) and Dartmouth (DH).  More specifically, it 
is expected that the western portion (~80%) of the property is 100% Rutland, while the eastern 
20% is comprised of 70% Rutland and 30% Dartmouth. 

Rutland soils are defined as very gently to strongly sloping fluvioglacial deposits , comprised of 10 
to 25cm of sandy loam or loamy sand over gravelly loamy sand or very gravelly sand, with rapid 
drainage. 

Dartmouth soils are defined as nearly level to very steeply sloping fluvioglacial deposits, 
comprised of 25 to 60 cm of sandy loam or loam over gravelly sandy loam or gravelly loamy sand 
with drainage cited as well to rapid. 

The western 80% has been identified as 100% Class 3 (improved) with stoniness as a limiting 
factor.  The eastern 20% of the property is expected to be 70% Class 3 with stoniness and 20% 
Class 2 with soil moisture deficiency as limiting factors. 

The proposed new home site would be on the marginally better eastern portion (i.e. 70% Class 3 
& 20% Class 2).  No additional documentation has been provided with respect to the agricultural 
capability of the land which at “Class 2 & 3” is rated as Prime agricultural land.   

Parcel Summary: 

 Parcel Size: 3.99 ha (9.87 ac) 
 Elevation: 433 – 436 masl 
 
4.3 Zoning of Adjacent Property 

Direction Zoning Designation Land Use In the ALR? 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Agriculture Yes 

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Agriculture Yes 

South A1 – Agriculture 1 Agriculture Yes 

West A1 – Agriculture 1 Agriculture Yes 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

49



 

Map 1 - Subject Property – 3053 – 3057 Dunster Road 

 

Map 2 – Original Homesite Severance (proposed to AAC)  

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed 
subdivision 
line is 
approximate 

Principal 

Dwelling 

Second 

Dwelling 

50



 

Map 3 – Current Homesite Severance Proposal 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Objective 5.33 Protect and enhance local agriculture2. 

Policy .1  Protect Agricultural Land.  Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and 
by protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City 
of Kelowna Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is 
agriculture, regardless of parcel size. 

Policy .3 Urban Uses. Direct urban uses to lands within the urban portion of the Permanent 
Growth Boundary, in the interest of reducing development and speculative pressure on 
agricultural lands. 

Policy .7 Non-farm Uses. Support non-farm use applications on agricultural lands only where 
approved by the ALC and where the proposed uses: 

 are consistent with the Zoning Bylaw and OCP; 

 provide significant benefits to local agriculture; 

 can be accommodated using existing municipal infrastructure; 

 minimize impacts on productive agricultural lands; 

 will not preclude future use of the lands for agriculture; 

 will not harm adjacent farm operations. 

Policy .8 Subdivision.  Maximize potential for the use of farmland by not allowing the 
subdivision of agricultural land into smaller parcels (with the exception of Homesite 
Severances approved by the ALC) except where significant positive benefits to 
agriculture can be demonstrated. 

                                                
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan – Chapter 5 – Development Process; pp. 5.33 & 5.34. 

Proposed 
subdivision 
line is 
approximate 

Principal 

Dwelling 

Second 

Dwelling 

51



Policy .9  Housing in Agricultural Areas. Discourage residential development (both expansions 
and new developments) in areas isolated within agricultural environments (both ALR and 
non-ALR). 

Objective 5.34 Preserve productive agricultural land3. 

Policy .1 Secondary Suites. Encourage secondary suites on agricultural land to be located within 
a permitted principal dwelling. 

Policy .3 Homeplating. Locate buildings and structures, including farm help housing and farm 
retail sales area and structures, on agricultural parcels in close proximity to one another 
and where appropriate, near the existing road frontage. The goal should be to maximize 
use of existing infrastructure and reduce impacts on productive agricultural lands. 

5.2 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan 

ALR Application Criteria4 

Exclusion, subdivision, or non-farm use of ALR lands will generally not be supported.  General 
non-support for ALR applications is in the interest of protecting farmland through retention of 
larger parcels, protection of the land base from impacts of urban encroachment, reducing land 
speculation and the cost of entering the farm business, and encouraging increased farm 
capitalization. 

Urban - Rural/Agricultural Boundary Policies5 

Parcel Size (Agricultural Land) – Discourage the subdivision of agricultural land into smaller 
parcels, except where positive benefits to agriculture can be demonstrated. 
 
Homesite Severance – Continue to support the concept of homesite severance, consistent with 
Agricultural Land Commission Policy #025/78 [11]6. 

5.3 Agricultural Land Commission Policy #11- Homesite Severance on ALR Lands 

Persons making use of this policy should understand clearly that7:  
a. no one has an automatic right to a "homesite severance";  
b. the Commission shall be the final arbiter as to whether a particular "homesite severance" 

meets good land use criteria;  
c. a prime concern of the Commission will always be to ensure that the "remainder" will 

constitute a suitable agricultural parcel. 

4. There will be cases where the Commission considers that good land use criteria rule out any 
subdivision of the land because subdivision would compromise the agricultural integrity of the 
area, and the Commission must therefore exercise its discretion to refuse the "homesite 
severance".  

Where the Commission decides to allow a "homesite severance", there are two options:  

a) the existing homesite may be created as a separate parcel where it is of a minimum size 
compatible with the character of the property (plus a reasonable area, where required, 
for legal access purposes); or 

                                                
3 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Development Process Chapter; p. 5.34.  
4 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 130. 
5 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 131. 
6 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 85. 
7 Agricultural Land Commission – Policy #11 – Homesite Severance on ALR Lands (http://www.alc.gov.bc.ca/legislation/policies/Pol11-
03_homesite-severance.htm)  

52

http://www.alc.gov.bc.ca/legislation/policies/Pol11-03_homesite-severance.htm
http://www.alc.gov.bc.ca/legislation/policies/Pol11-03_homesite-severance.htm


b) where the location of the existing homesite is such that the creation of a parcel 
encompassing the homesite would, in the Commission’s opinion, create potential 
difficulty for the agricultural operation or management of the "remainder", the 
Commission may, as it deems appropriate, approve the creation of a parcel elsewhere on 
the subject property.  

5. The remainder of the subject property after severance of the homesite must be of a size and 
configuration that will, in the Commission’s opinion, constitute a suitable agricultural parcel. 
Where, in the Commission’s opinion, the "remainder" is of an unacceptable size or configuration 
from an agricultural perspective, there are three options: 

a) the Commission may deny the "homesite severance"; 
b) the Commission may require that the "remainder" be consolidated with an adjacent 

parcel; or 
c) the Commission may require the registration of a covenant against the title of the 

"remainder" and such a covenant may prohibit the construction of dwellings. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Development Engineering Department 

Development Engineering has no comments at this time.  A comprehensive report will be 
provided at the time of application should the ALC agree to the subdivision. 

6.2 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services 

Should the ALC agree to the subdivision, the following will need to be considered at the time of 
subdivision application: 

 The new eastern lot line will need to be setback appropriately from the existing barn; 

 A buffer will need to be established around the homesite; and 

 Both the garage and driveway currently encroach over the southern property line and will 
need to be removed/relocated as part of the subdivision. 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received: September 24, 2013  

Agricultural Advisory Committee October 17, 2013 

The above noted application was reviewed by the Agricultural Advisory Committee at the 
meeting on October 17, 2013 and the original recommendation was defeated: 

THAT the Agricultural Advisory Committee recommends that Council supports Agricultural 
Land Reserve Appeal Application No. A13-0011 for 3053-3056 Dunster Road, Kelowna, BC for a 
application to the Agricultural Land Commission for a “Subdivision of agricultural land 
reserve” pursuant to Section 21(2) of the Agricultural Land Commission Act for a “Homesite 
Severance” pursuant to Policy #11 – Homesite Severance on ALR Lands as proposed by the 
Applicants. 
 
The subsequent recommendation was supported: 

 
THAT the Agricultural Advisory Committee recommends that Council supports Agricultural 
Land Reserve Appeal Application No. A13-0011 for 3053-3056 Dunster Road, Kelowna, BC for a 
application to the Agricultural Land Commission for a “Subdivision of agricultural land 
reserve” pursuant to Section 21(2) of the Agricultural Land Commission Act for a “Homesite 
Severance” pursuant to Policy #11 – Homesite Severance on ALR Lands subject to the location 

53



of the homesite severance being relocated to one of the existing dwellings already on the 
site. 
 

Anecdotal Comments: 

Based on the comments by the Applicant, the Agricultural Advisory Committee is 
recommending Council support of the Homesite Severance application subject to the location 
being moved to one of the existing dwellings on the site.  The Agricultural Advisory 
Committee felt it would be more appropriate if one of the existing dwellings was the site of 
the homesite severance rather than creating a third dwelling on the site. 

Report prepared by: 

     
Todd Cashin, Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services Manager 
 

Approved for Inclusion  S. Gambacort, Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment 
 

Attachments:  

Subject property/zoning map & ALR map (2 pages) 
BC Land Inventory Maps (2 pages) 
ALC application by landowner (2 pages) 
 

54



55



56



57



58



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: November 1, 2013 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services (PM) 

Application: Z11-0082 Owner: Bernard & Christine Rinas 

Address: 4165 Wallace Hill Rd Applicant: Bernard & Christine Rinas 

Subject: Rezoning Application, Extension Request 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

Proposed Zone: A1c – Agriculture 1 with Carriage House 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT in accordance with Development Application Procedures Bylaw No. 10540, the deadline for 
the adoption of Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10755, for Parcel B (DD 278127F) of Lot A, Section 3, 
Township 26, ODYD, Plan 12667 located on 4165 Wallace Hill Rd, Kelowna, BC, be extended from 
October 2, 2013  to October 2, 2014.  
 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider a final extension to facilitate the rezoning of the subject property from the A1- 
Agriculture 1 zone to the A1c – Agriculture 1 with Carriage House zone in order to allow the 
applicant time needed to prepare to legalize an existing suite within an existing accessory 
building.  The applicant is requesting additional time to deal with registration of a restrictive 
covenant on title to control use of the mobile home on site. 

3.0 Land Use Management  

Section 2.12.1 of Procedure Bylaw No. 10540 states that: 

In the event that an application made pursuant to this bylaw is one (1) year old or older and has 
been inactive for a period of six (6) months or greater: 
 

a) The application will be deemed to be abandoned and the applicant will be notified in writing 
that the file will be closed; 

b) Any bylaw that has not received final adoption will be of no force and effect; 

59



Z11-0082 – Page 2 

 
 

c) In the case of an amendment application, the City Clerk will place on the agenda of a meeting 
of Council a motion to rescind all readings of the bylaw associated with that Amendment 
application. 
 
Section 2.12.2 of the Procedure Bylaw makes provision that upon written request by the 
applicant prior to the lapse of the application, Council may extend the deadline for a period of 
twelve (12) months by passing a resolution to that affect. 
  
By-Law No. 10755 received second and third readings on October 2, 2012 after the Public Hearing 
held on the same date. The applicant wishes to have this application remain open for an 
additional twelve (12) months in order to address the outstanding issues related to the final 
adoption of the zone amending bylaw.   

Report prepared by: 

 

     
Paul McVey, Urban Planner 
 
 
 
 
 
/dc 
 
Reviewed by:    

     Todd Cashin, Manager 
 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services            

 

Approved for Inclusion  Shelley Gambacort, Director 
     Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services 
 

Attachments:  

Site Plan 

60



61


	Agenda
	2. Minutes - Regular PM Council Meeting_Nov4_2013.docx
	3.1 2013-11-18 Report Z13-0020 3131 Lakeshore Road.docx
	3.1 2013-11-18 Attachments Z13-0020 3131 Lakeshore Rd.pdf
	3.1.1 Bylaw No. 10895 (Z13-0020).pdf
	3.2 2013-11-25 Report  TA13-0008 Thrift Store Use.docx
	3.2 2013-11-25  Attachment TA13-0008 Schedule A THRIFT STORES.docx
	3.2.1 Bylaw No. 10896 (TA13-0008).pdf
	3.3 A13-0011 Council Report .docx
	3.3 A13-0011 attachments.pdf
	3.4 2013-11-18 Report Z11-0082 Extension to Oct 2 2014.docx
	3.4 2013-11-18 Attachment Z11-0082 4165 Wallace Hill Rd.pdf

